

# **Articles of Association**

of

Young & Co.'s Brewery, P.L.C.

**Incorporated 17 November 1890** 

Company No. 32762

Adopted with effect from 00.01am on 1 October 2009 by special resolution passed on 14 July 2009 and amended by special resolution passed on 13 July 2010

# Contents

| 1.         | Exclusion of model articles                          | 1  |
|------------|--|----|
| 2.         | Interpretation                                       | 1  |
| 3.         | Limited liability                                    | 3  |
| 4.         | Name   | 3  |
| 5.         | Differences between A Shares and Non-Voting Shares   |    |
| 6.         | The Board's power to deal with shares                | 3  |
| 7.         | Payment of commission etc.                           | 3  |
| 8.         | Pari passu issues                                    | 3  |
| 9.         | Issuing shares with rights and/or restrictions       | 4  |
| 3.<br>10.  | Division of shares                                   | 4  |
| 11.        | Fractions of shares                                  | 4  |
| 12.        | Redeemable shares                                    | 4  |
| 13.        | Trusts not recognised                                | 4  |
| 13.<br>14. | Uncertificated shares                                | 4  |
|            | Share certificates                                   |    |
| 15.        |  | 5  |
| 16.        | Replacing share certificates                         | 5  |
| 17.        | Transferring shares                                  | 6  |
| 18.        | People automatically entitled to shares by law       | 7  |
| 19.        | Shareholders who cannot be traced                    | 8  |
| 20.        | Separate general meetings                            | 8  |
| 21.        | Moving or postponing meetings                        | 8  |
| 22.        | Security and other arrangements at general meetings  | 9  |
| 23.        | Chairman of general meetings                         | 9  |
| 24.        | Quorum   | 9  |
| 25.        | Conduct  | 9  |
| 26.        | Entitlement to attend and speak                      | 9  |
| 27.        | Adjourning meetings                                  | 10 |
| 28.        | Amending resolutions                                 | 10 |
| 29.        | Method of voting                                     | 11 |
| 30.        | Votes of shareholders                                | 11 |
| 31.        | Demanding a poll                                     | 11 |
| 32.        | How polls are taken                                  | 11 |
| 33.        | Meeting continues after poll                         | 12 |
| 34.        | Challenging votes                                    | 12 |
| 35.        | Appointment of proxies                               | 12 |
| 36.        | Receipt of proxies                                   | 12 |
| 37.        | Cancellation of a proxy's authority                  | 13 |
| 38.        | Cancellation of a company representative's authority | 14 |
| 39.        | General powers of Young's vested in the directors    | 14 |
| 40.        | Delegating powers to committees                      | 14 |
| 41.        | Agents   | 14 |
| 42.        | Delegation of powers                                 | 15 |
| 43.        | Number of directors                                  | 15 |
| 44.        | Directors need not be shareholders                   | 15 |
| 45.        | Power to appoint directors                           | 16 |
| 46.        | People who can be directors                          | 16 |
| 47.        | Automatic retirement                                 | 16 |
| 48.        | Timing of retirement at a general meeting            | 16 |
| 49.        | Vacation of office                                   | 17 |
| 50.        | Alternate directors                                  | 17 |
| 51.        | Executive directors                                  | 18 |
| 52.        | Directors' fees                                      | 18 |
| 53.        | Additional remuneration                              | 18 |
| 54.        | Directors' expenses                                  | 18 |
| 55.        | Pensions and other benefits                          | 19 |
| 56.        | Board meetings                                       | 19 |
| 57.        |  | 19 |
| <b>~</b>   |  | 10 |

| 58. | Appointment of a chairman and deputy chairman       | 19 |
|-----|---|----|
| 59. | Quorum  | 19 |
| 60. | Directors can act if there are vacancies            | 20 |
| 61. | Participation in meetings                           | 20 |
| 62. | Voting at board meetings                            | 20 |
| 63. | Director's interests                                | 20 |
| 64. | Validity of acts of the Board or committees         | 23 |
| 65. | Written resolutions                                 | 23 |
| 66. | Positions with titles including the word "director" | 24 |
| 67. | Borrowing powers                                    | 24 |
| 68. | Final dividends                                     | 25 |
| 69. | Fixed and interim dividends                         | 25 |
| 70. | Distributions in kind                               | 25 |
| 71. | Payments to shareholders                            | 25 |
| 72. | Unclaimed dividends and other money                 | 26 |
| 73. | Waiver of dividends                                 | 26 |
| 74. | Changing reserves into capital                      | 26 |
| 75. | Record dates  | 27 |
| 76. | Assets treated as revenue                           | 27 |
| 77. | Inspection of records                               | 27 |
| 78. | Secretary, and deputy and temporary secretaries     | 27 |
| 79. | Seals   | 28 |
| 80. | Registers   | 28 |
| 81. | Signature of documents in electronic form           | 28 |
| 82. | Certifying copies of documents                      | 28 |
| 83. | Destroying or deleting documents                    | 29 |
| 84. | Communications by Young's                           | 29 |
| 85. | When communications are delivered                   | 31 |
| 86. | Communications when post etc. not available         | 31 |
| 87. | Failure to send, or non-receipt of, any notice etc. | 32 |
| 88. | Shareholders bound by prior notices etc.            | 32 |
| 89. | Indemnity   | 32 |
| 90. | Insurance   | 32 |

### **Articles of Association**

of

# Young & Co.'s Brewery, P.L.C.

(adopted with effect from 00.01am on 1 October 2009 by special resolution passed on 14 July 2009 and amended by special resolution passed on 13 July 2010)

### 1. Exclusion of model articles

No articles set out in the legislation apply as the articles of Young's.

# 2. Interpretation

(A) The following table gives the meaning of certain words and phrases as they are used in these articles. However, the meaning given in the table does not apply if it is inconsistent with the context in which a word or phrase appears.

| Word or phrase  | Meaning   |
|-----------------|---|
| address         | includes a number or address used for sending or receiving documents or information by electronic means;  |
| A Share         | an A ordinary share in the share capital of Young's;  |
| Board           | all or any of the directors acting as a board;  |
| chairman        | the chairman of the Board;  |
| clear days      | in relation to a period of notice, that period excluding the day when the notice is served, or deemed to be served, and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect; so for example, if notice is to be given a number of clear days before a meeting, neither the date the notice is served, or treated as served, nor the date of the meeting is taken into account; |
| committee       | includes any sub-committee permitted under these articles;  |
| company         | includes any corporate body;  |
| CREST           | the electronic settlement system for securities traded on a recognised investment exchange and owned by Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited, or any similar system;  |
| deputy chairman | the deputy chairman of the Board and includes, if no one has<br>been appointed with that specific title, a person appointed to a<br>position with another title which the Board designates as<br>equivalent to the position of deputy chairman;   |
| director        | a director of Young's;  |
| holder          | in relation to any share, the person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of that share;   |

legislation every statute (and any orders, regulations or other subordinate

legislation made under it) applying to Young's;

made effective signed, sealed or executed in some other legally valid way;

Non-Voting Share a non-voting ordinary share in the share capital of Young's;

the office the registered office of Young's:

ordinary shares the A Shares and the Non-Voting Shares taken together (and

includes any new share class which is created and ranks

equally with those share classes);

people includes companies and unincorporated associations;

person includes companies and unincorporated associations;

register the register of shareholders and, at any time when Young's

has shares in issue which are uncertificated shares, the operator register of members (maintained by CREST) and the

issuer register of members (maintained by Young's);

seal any common seal or official seal that Young's may be

permitted to have under the legislation;

secretary the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any one of the

joint secretaries, of Young's and includes an assistant or deputy secretary and any person appointed by the Board to

perform any of the duties of the secretary;

shareholder a member of Young's;

these articles these articles of association, including any changes made to

them, and the expression "this article" refers to a particular

article in these articles of association;

uncertificated securities

rules

any provision in the legislation which relates to uncertificated

shares or to the transfer of uncertificated shares or how the

ownership of uncertificated shares is evidenced;

UK Great Britain and Northern Ireland; and

Young's Young & Co.'s Brewery, P.L.C.

- (B) References in these articles to "writing" and to any form of "written" communication include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form, whether sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.
- (C) In these articles, the singular includes the plural, and the other way around, and any gender includes any other gender.
- (D) Words or phrases contained in these articles which are not given a particular meaning in the above table have, unless the way in which they are used is inconsistent with the meaning in or referred to in the legislation, the same meaning as in or as referred to in the legislation in force when these articles are adopted.
- (E) Where these articles refer to voting on a show of hands, it includes voting by electronic means or any other method which the Board approves.

(F) Headings in these articles are included for convenience only and do not affect the meaning of these articles.

### 3. Limited liability

The liability of members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in Young's held by them.

#### 4. Name

Young's may change its name by resolution of the Board.

## 5. Differences between A Shares and Non-Voting Shares

Subject to these articles, the holders of the A Shares have the right to receive notices of general meetings and to attend, speak and vote at them. Those rights do not apply to holders of the Non-Voting Shares. The A Shares and the Non-Voting Shares must be treated equally for all purposes of participation in profits or assets.

### 6. The Board's power to deal with shares

The Board can decide what to do with any shares. For example, it can allot them on any terms, grant options to give people a choice to acquire them in the future or dispose of them in any other way. The Board is free to decide who it deals with, when it deals with the shares, the class or classes of shares concerned, and the terms on which it deals. However, in making its decision, it must take account of:

- the provisions of the legislation relating to authority, pre-emption rights and other matters:
- (ii) the provisions of these articles;
- (iii) any resolution passed by the shareholders; and
- (iv) any rights attached to existing shares;

but can nevertheless decide:

- (aa) whether the shares to be issued are to be A Shares, Non-Voting Shares, some other class of share (which may be a new share class) or a mixture of share classes; and
- (bb) the class or classes of share to be offered or issued to holders of each class of ordinary share and different classes, or mixtures of classes, of shares may be offered or issued to holders of each class of ordinary share.

## 7. Payment of commission etc.

In addition to all other powers, Young's can use all the powers given or permitted by the legislation to pay commission or brokerage to any person who applies, or agrees to apply, for any new shares, or who gets any other person to apply, or agree to apply for, any new shares. Young's can pay the commission in cash, or by allotting shares, or by a combination of both.

### 8. Pari passu issues

Unless the terms of the existing shares say otherwise, the special rights of any existing shares will not to be regarded as changed or abrogated if new shares are created or issued which rank equally with any existing shares in any respect.

### 9. Issuing shares with rights and/or restrictions

As long as this is not restricted by any rights attached to existing shares, Young's may issue shares with such rights and/or restrictions as are decided by the shareholders by passing an ordinary resolution.

### 10. Division of shares

Any resolution authorising any division of shares can provide that, as between the holders of the divided shares, different rights and restrictions of a kind which Young's can apply to new shares can apply to different divided shares.

### 11. Fractions of shares

If any shares are consolidated, consolidated and then divided or divided, the Board may deal with any fractions of shares which result or any other problem that arises. The Board can arrange for any shares representing fractions to be entered in the register as certificated shares where it believes this will make it easier to sell them. If the Board decides to sell any shares representing fractions, it must do so for the best price it can reasonably obtain and distribute the net proceeds of sale among shareholders in proportion to their fractional entitlements. The Board can sell to anyone (including Young's, if the legislation allows) and can authorise any person to transfer those shares to the buyer or in accordance with the buyer's instructions. The buyer does not need to take any steps to check how any money he is paying is used and his ownership will not be affected if the sale is irregular or invalid in any way.

### 12. Redeemable shares

- (A) As long as this is not restricted by any rights attached to existing shares, Young's may issue shares which are to be redeemed or are liable to be redeemed at the option of Young's or the holder.
- (B) The Board may determine the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any redeemable share so issued.

## 13. Trusts not recognised

Subject to these articles and to any right which Young's has a legal duty to recognise, Young's will only be affected by, or recognise, a current and absolute right to whole shares. The fact that all or any part of a share may not be owned outright by the registered owner is not of concern to Young's; for example where a share is held by one person as a nominee or otherwise as a trustee for someone else. This applies even if Young's knows about the ownership of the share.

#### 14. Uncertificated shares

- (A) Under the uncertificated securities rules, the Board can allow shares to be held in uncertificated form (and for their ownership to be transferred through CREST) or can allow shares to no longer be held and transferred in uncertificated form. Uncertificated shares do not form a class of shares separate from certificated shares with the same rights.
- (B) These articles apply to shares held in uncertificated form but only as far as they are consistent with:
  - (i) holding shares in uncertificated form;
  - (ii) transferring shares through CREST; or
  - (iii) the uncertificated securities rules.

- (C) Provided the requirements of the uncertificated securities rules are met, uncertificated shares can be changed to become certificated shares and certificated shares can be changed to become uncertificated shares.
- (D) Unless the Board decides otherwise, uncertificated shares held by a shareholder will be treated as separate holdings from any certificated shares which that shareholder holds.
- (E) Unless the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require or the Board otherwise determines, shares which are issued or created from or in respect of uncertificated shares will be uncertificated shares and shares which are issued or created from or in respect of certificated shares will be certificated shares.
- (F) Young's can assume that entries on any record of securities kept by it as required by the uncertificated securities rules and regularly reconciled with the register of securities held by the operator of CREST are a complete and accurate reproduction of the particulars entered in that register and therefore will not be liable in respect of anything done or not done by or on its behalf in reliance on such assumption; in particular, any provision of these articles which requires or envisages action to be taken in reliance on information contained in the register will be taken to allow that action to be taken in reliance on information contained in any relevant record of securities (as so maintained and reconciled).

### 15. Share certificates

- (A) When a shareholder is first registered as the holder of any class of certificated shares, he is entitled, free of charge, to one certificate for all the certificated shares of that class which he holds. If a shareholder holds certificated shares of more than one class, he is entitled to a separate certificate for each class. This does not apply if the legislation allows Young's not to issue share certificates. Young's can deliver a certificate to a broker or agent who is acting for a person who is buying certificated shares or who is having certificated shares transferred to him.
- (B) If a shareholder receives more certificated shares of any class, he is entitled, free of charge, to a certificate for the extra shares. If a shareholder transfers some of the shares covered by a certificate, he is entitled, free of charge, to a new certificate for the balance if the balance is to be held in certificated form.
- (C) Young's does not have to issue more than one certificate for a certificated share, even if that share is held jointly. The maximum number of joint holders is four. When Young's delivers a certificate to the first-named joint holder of certificated shares, this is treated as delivery to all of the joint holders.
- (D) Share certificates must be sealed or made effective in such other way as the Board decides, having regard to the terms of issue and any listing requirements. The Board can resolve that signatures on any share certificates can be applied by mechanical or other means or can be printed on them or that signatures are not required.
- (E) A share certificate must state the number and class of shares to which it relates and the amount paid up on those shares. It cannot be for shares of more than one class.
- (F) The time limit for Young's to provide a share certificate under this article is as prescribed by the legislation or, if this is earlier, within any prescribed time limit or within a time specified when the shares were issued.

## 16. Replacing share certificates

(A) A shareholder with two or more certificates for shares of the same class can ask Young's to cancel and replace these with a single new certificate; Young's must comply with this request. A shareholder can ask Young's to cancel and replace a single share certificate with two or more certificates for the same total number of shares; Young's may comply with this request and, if it does, the Board can require the shareholder to pay for the new certificates.

- (B) A shareholder can ask Young's for a new certificate if the original is worn out, damaged, defaced, lost, stolen or destroyed.
- (C) The Board can require the shareholder to pay any exceptional out of pocket expenses of Young's incurred in connection with issuing a new certificate under this article.
- (D) If a certificate has been worn out, damaged or defaced, Young's can require the certificate to be returned to it before issuing a replacement. Young's can also require satisfactory evidence of a certificate being worn out, lost, stolen or destroyed and insist on receiving an indemnity before issuing a replacement.

## 17. Transferring shares

- (A) Unless these articles say otherwise, any shareholder can transfer some or all of his shares to another person. However, transfers cannot be in favour of more than four joint holders.
- (B) Every transfer of certificated shares must be in writing and either in the usual standard form or another form approved by the Board.
- (C) Every transfer of uncertificated shares must be made through CREST and comply with the uncertificated securities rules.
- (D) A transfer form must be made effective by or on behalf of the person making the transfer.
- (E) A transfer form cannot be used to transfer more than one class of shares; each class needs a separate form.
- (F) The transfer form for certificated shares must be delivered to the office or any other place the Board decides. It must have with it:
  - (i) the share certificate for the shares being transferred unless the transfer is being made by a person to whom Young's was not required to, and did not send, a certificate;
  - (ii) any other evidence which the Board asks for to prove that the person wanting to make the transfer is entitled to do this; and
  - (iii) if the transfer form is made effective by someone other than the person making the transfer, evidence of the authority of that person to do so.

It must also be properly stamped to show payment of any applicable stamp duty or certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the Board to be exempt from stamp duty.

- (G) No fee is payable to Young's for transferring shares or registering changes relating to the ownership of shares.
- (H) If Young's registers a transfer, it can keep the transfer form.
- (I) The Board can refuse to register a transfer of an uncertificated share in the circumstances stated in the uncertificated securities rules.
- (J) If the Board decides not to register a transfer of a share, it must notify the person to whom that share was to be transferred. This must be done no later than two months after Young's receives the transfer form (in the case of a certificated share) or instruction from the operator of CREST (in the case of an uncertificated share).
- (K) The person making a transfer will be treated as continuing to be the holder until the name of the person to whom the share is being transferred is entered on the register for that share.

(L) Where a share has not yet been entered on the register, the Board can recognise a renunciation by that person of his right to the share in favour of some other person. Such renunciation will be treated as a transfer and the Board has the same powers of refusing to give effect to such a renunciation as if it were a transfer.

### 18. People automatically entitled to shares by law

When shareholders die

(A) If any shareholder who is a joint shareholder dies, the remaining joint shareholder or shareholders will be the only person or people who Young's will recognise as being entitled to his shares. When any sole shareholder (or a shareholder who is the last survivor of joint shareholders) dies, his legal personal representatives will be the only people who Young's will recognise as being entitled to his shares.

Registering those automatically entitled to a share by law

(B) Any person who becomes automatically entitled to a share by law can either be registered as the holder or can select some other person to have the share transferred to. The automatically entitled person must provide any evidence of his entitlement which the Board reasonably requires. In the case of certificated shares, the Board must note this entitlement in the register within two months of receiving such evidence.

People who want to be registered must give notice

(C) If any person who is automatically entitled to a share by law wants to be registered as the holder, he must deliver or send a notice to Young's saying that he has made this decision (in the case of a certificated share) or must do so in accordance with the uncertificated securities rules (in the case of an uncertificated share). The notice must be in the form which the Board requires and it will be treated as a transfer form. All the provisions of these articles about registering transfers of shares apply to it. The Board has the same power to refuse to register the automatically entitled person as it would have had in deciding whether to register a transfer by the person who was previously entitled to the share.

Having another person registered

(D) If a person who is automatically entitled to a share by law wants the share to be transferred to another person, he must do this by signing a transfer form to the person he has selected (in the case of a certificated share) or by using CREST (in the case of an uncertificated share). The Board has the same power to refuse to register the person selected as it would have had in deciding whether to register a transfer by the person who was previously entitled to the share.

Rights of people automatically entitled to shares by law

- (E) Where a person becomes automatically entitled to a share by law, the rights of the registered shareholder in relation to that share will cease to have effect.
- (F) A person who becomes automatically entitled to a share by law is entitled to any dividends or other money relating to the share even though he is not registered as the holder of that share, on supplying evidence the Board reasonably requires to show his title to the share. However, the Board can send written notice to the person saying that he must either be registered as the holder of the share or transfer the share to some other person; if the automatically entitled person does not do this within 90 days of the notice, the Board can withhold all dividends or other money relating to the share until he does.
- (G) Unless registered as the holder of the share, the person automatically entitled to a share by law is not entitled (in respect of the share) to:

- (i) receive notices of shareholders' meetings or attend, speak or vote at these meetings; or
- (ii) exercise any other rights of a shareholder in relation to any of these meetings

unless the Board decides to allow this.

#### Shareholders who cannot be traced

- (A) Young's can sell any shares if:
  - (i) during the previous ten years, the shares have been in issue, Young's has tried to pay at least three dividends in respect of those shares and none of them has been cashed:
  - (ii) after this ten-year period, Young's publishes a notice, stating that it intends to sell the shares, in a UK national newspaper and in a local newspaper appearing in the area in the UK which includes the address held by Young's for serving notices relating to the shares; and
  - (iii) during this ten-year period, and for three months after the last notice appears in the newspapers, Young's has not heard from the shareholder or any person automatically entitled to the shares by law.
- (B) To sell any shares in this way, the Board can authorise any person to transfer the shares. This transfer will be just as effective as if it had been made by the shareholder, or by a person automatically entitled to the shares by law. The ownership of the person to whom the shares are transferred will not be affected even if the sale is irregular or invalid in any way.
- (C) The net sale proceeds belong to Young's but it must pay an amount equal to them to the shareholder who could not be traced, or to the person automatically entitled to the shares by law, if that shareholder, or that other person, asks for them. After the sale, Young's must record the name of that shareholder, or that other person, as a creditor for this money in its accounts. The money is not held on trust and no interest is payable on it. Young's can keep any money which it has earned on the net sale proceeds. Young's can use the money for its business, the business of any one or more of its holding companies (if any) and/or the business of any one or more of its subsidiaries (if any), or it can invest the money in any way that the Board decides.
- (D) In the case of uncertificated shares, this article is subject to any restrictions which apply under the uncertificated securities rules.

### 20. Separate general meetings

If a separate general meeting of holders of shares of a class is called otherwise than for changing or abrogating the rights of the shares of that class, the provisions of these articles relating to general meetings will apply to such a meeting with any necessary changes. A general meeting where ordinary shareholders are the only shareholders who can attend and vote in their capacity as shareholders will also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders of the ordinary shares.

### 21. Moving or postponing meetings

(A) If the Board considers that it is impractical or undesirable to hold a general meeting on the date or at the time or place stated in the notice of meeting, it can change the place of, or postpone, the meeting, or do both of these things. If the Board does this, and if it is practical, Young's will announce the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting by publishing an advert in at least two UK national newspapers. Notice of the business of the meeting does not need to be given again.

- (B) The Board must take reasonable steps to ensure that any shareholder trying to attend the meeting at the original time and place is informed of the new arrangements. If a meeting is rearranged in this way, proxy appointments are valid if they are received as required by these articles not less than 48 hours before the time of the rearranged meeting.
- (C) The Board can also move or postpone the rearranged meeting, or do both, under this article.

## 22. Security and other arrangements at general meetings

The Board can put in place arrangements, both before and during any general meeting, which it considers to be appropriate for the proper and orderly conduct of the general meeting and the safety of people attending it. This authority includes power to refuse entry to, or remove from meetings, people who fail to comply with the arrangements.

### 23. Chairman of general meetings

- (A) Generally, the chairman or, in his absence, the deputy chairman will be the chairman at every general meeting. If Young's does not have a chairman or a deputy chairman, or if neither the chairman nor the deputy chairman is willing and able to chair the meeting, after waiting five minutes from the time that the meeting is due to start, the directors who are present can choose one of themselves to act as chairman of the meeting. If only one director is present, he will be the chairman of the meeting if he agrees. If no director is willing and able to be chairman of the meeting, the secretary will be chairman of the meeting if he is present and agrees. If the secretary is not willing then those present at the meeting and entitled to vote can decide which one of them is to be chairman of the meeting.
- (B) Nothing in these articles restricts or excludes, or is intended to restrict or exclude, any power or right of a chairman of a meeting which is given by law.
- (C) If there is an equal number of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting is entitled to a second or casting vote.

### 24. Quorum

- (A) There must be a quorum present before a general meeting starts any business. If a quorum is not present, a chairman of the meeting can still be chosen and this will not be treated as part of the business of the meeting. Unless these articles say otherwise, a quorum for all purposes is two people who are entitled to vote; they can be shareholders or proxies or a combination of both.
- (B) If a quorum is not present within ten minutes after the time fixed for a general meeting to start (or within any longer period which the chairman of the meeting decides) or if a quorum ceases to be present during a general meeting then the meeting is cancelled if it was called by shareholders. If it wasn't called by shareholders, it is adjourned to the day, time and place stated in the notice of meeting or, if the notice does not provide for that, to a day, time and place decided by the chairman of the meeting.

### 25. Conduct

The chairman of a meeting can take any action he considers appropriate for proper and orderly conduct at a general meeting. His decision on points of order, matters of procedure or on matters arising incidentally out of the business of a general meeting is final, as is his decision, acting in good faith, on whether a point or matter is of this nature.

## 26. Entitlement to attend and speak

Each director can attend and speak at any general meeting. The chairman of a meeting can also allow anyone to attend and speak where he considers that this will help the business of the meeting.

## 27. Adjourning meetings

- (A) The chairman of a meeting can adjourn the meeting before or after it has started if he considers that:
  - (i) there is not enough room for the number of shareholders and proxies who want to attend the meeting;
  - (ii) the behaviour of anyone present prevents, or is likely to prevent, the business of the meeting being carried out in an orderly way: or
  - (iii) it is necessary for any other reason so that the business of the meeting can be properly carried out.

The chairman of the meeting can adjourn the meeting for any of these reasons to a day, time and place which he decides, or to a later time on the same day or indefinitely. The chairman does not need the consent of the meeting to do this.

- (B) Additionally, the chairman of a meeting can adjourn a meeting which has a quorum present if the meeting agrees. The chairman must adjourn the meeting if the meeting directs this. The adjournment can be to a day, time and place which the chairman decides, or can be indefinite.
- (C) If a meeting is adjourned for less than 30 days, there is no need to give notice of the adjourned meeting, or of the business to be considered there.
- (D) If a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more or indefinitely, at least seven clear days' notice must be given for the adjourned meeting in the same way as was required for the original meeting, including notice of the business to be considered there.
- (E) If a meeting is adjourned indefinitely, the Board will decide the day, time and place of the adjourned meeting.
- (F) Meetings can be adjourned more than once.
- (G) A reconvened meeting can only deal with business that could have been dealt with at the meeting which was adjourned.

# 28. Amending resolutions

- (A) The chairman of a meeting can propose amendments to any resolution if they are clerical or are to correct an obvious error in the resolution.
- (B) Amendments to an ordinary resolution which are within the scope of the resolution can be proposed if notice of the proposed amendment is delivered to the office addressed to the secretary at least five working days before the day fixed for the meeting or adjourned meeting or the chairman of the meeting decides that the amendment may be proposed.
- (C) Save as provided in this article, no other amendments can be proposed to any resolution.
- (D) The chairman of the meeting can agree to the withdrawal of any proposed amendment before it is put to the vote.
- (E) If the chairman of the meeting rules that a proposed amendment is out of order, any error in that ruling will not affect the validity of a vote on the original resolution.

## 29. Method of voting

If a resolution is put to the vote at a general meeting, it will be decided by a show of hands, unless a poll is demanded as soon as, or before, the result of the show of hands is declared by the chairman.

### 30. Votes of shareholders

- (A) Subject to any special rights or restrictions as to voting which are given to any shares or upon which any shares may be held at the relevant time and to the rest of these articles, a shareholder is entitled to vote at a general meeting, whether on a show of hands or a poll, as provided in the legislation.
- (B) If a shareholder votes on a poll, he does not have to use all of his votes or cast all his votes in the same way.
- (C) If more than one joint shareholder votes (including voting by proxy), the only vote which will count is the vote of the person whose name is listed before the other voters on the register for the share.
- (D) Where a shareholder is unable to manage his affairs and a court or official with jurisdiction to protect people who are unable to manage their own affairs has made an order about the shareholder, the person appointed to act for that shareholder can vote for him and exercise any of his other rights relating to meetings. This includes appointing a proxy, voting on a show of hands and voting on a poll. However, before the representative does so, such evidence of his authority as the Board requires must be delivered to the office, or any other place the Board specifies for delivery of proxy forms, not later than the latest time at which proxy forms must be received to be valid for use at the relevant meeting or on the holding of the relevant poll.

## 31. Demanding a poll

- (A) Subject to the legislation, a poll can be demanded by the chairman of the meeting, by at least three shareholders at the meeting who are entitled to vote (or their proxies) or by one or more shareholders at the meeting who are entitled to vote (or their proxies) and who have, between them, at least ten per cent. of the total votes of all shareholders who have the right to vote at the meeting. The chairman of the meeting can also demand a poll before a resolution is put to the vote on a show of hands.
- (B) A demand for a poll can be withdrawn if the chairman of the meeting agrees to this. If no poll is demanded or a demand for a poll is withdrawn, any declaration by the chairman of the meeting of the result of a vote by a show of hands on that resolution will stand as conclusive evidence of the result without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded for or against the resolution.

## 32. How polls are taken

- (A) Unless these articles say otherwise, the chairman of the meeting can decide where, when and how to take a poll. In particular, he can:
  - (i) decide that a ballot, electronic voting, voting papers or tickets will be used;
  - (ii) appoint one or more scrutineers (who need not be shareholders);
  - (iii) adjourn the meeting to a date, time and place which he decides for the result of the poll to be declared; and/or
  - (iv) declare the result of the poll or decide how it should be declared.

The result will be treated as the decision of the meeting where the poll was demanded even if the poll is taken after the meeting.

(B) If a poll is demanded on a vote to elect the chairman of the meeting, or to adjourn a meeting, it must be taken immediately at the meeting. Any other poll demanded can be taken either at the meeting or within three months. No notice is required for a poll not taken immediately if the time and place at which it is to be taken are announced at the meeting at which it is demanded. In any other case, at least seven clear days' notice must be given stating the day, time and place at which the poll is to be taken.

### 33. Meeting continues after poll

A demand for a poll on a particular matter (other than on the election of the chairman of the meeting or on the adjournment of the meeting) does not stop a meeting from continuing and dealing with other matters. Once all these matters have been dealt with, the meeting is treated as having ended immediately after the poll has been taken even though the result of the poll is to be worked out and announced later.

## 34. Challenging votes

If any objection to the right of any person to vote is made or if any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected or if any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted, the objection or error must be raised or pointed out at the meeting (or the adjourned meeting) or poll at which the vote objected to is cast or at which the error occurs. Any objection or error must be raised with or pointed out to the chairman of the meeting. His decision is final. If a vote is allowed at a meeting or poll, it is valid for all purposes and if a vote is not counted at a meeting or poll, this will not affect the decision of the meeting or poll.

### 35. Appointment of proxies

- (A) A proxy need not be a shareholder and a shareholder can appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same occasion. If a shareholder appoints more than one proxy, he must specify the number of shares in relation to which each proxy is appointed and each proxy will only be entitled to exercise voting rights in relation to the number of shares for which he is appointed. If a shareholder appoints more than one proxy, he must ensure that no more than one proxy is appointed in relation to any share.
- (B) A proxy is appointed by using a proxy form which must be in writing; it can otherwise be in any form approved by the Board. Where the proxy is appointed by an individual, the proxy form must be signed by the individual or his attorney. Where the proxy is appointed by a company, it must be sealed with the company's seal or signed by someone authorised to sign it.
- (C) A proxy form gives the proxy the authority to speak at a general meeting and demand, or join in demanding, a poll. It also allows him to vote on any amendment to a resolution put to, or any other business which may properly come before, the meeting.
- (D) If a proxy is given discretion as to how to vote on a show of hands, it will be treated as an instruction by the shareholder to vote in the way that the proxy decides to exercise that discretion.

### 36. Receipt of proxies

- (A) A proxy form must be received at the office, or any other place specified by the Board for the receipt of appointments of proxy. The place specified can be different depending on whether the appointment is in hard copy form, by electronic means or otherwise.
- (B) Notices of appointments of proxies must be received:

- (i) 48 hours (or such shorter time as the Board decides) before a meeting or an adjourned meeting;
- (ii) 24 hours (or such shorter time as the Board decides) before a poll is taken, if the poll is taken more than 48 hours after it was demanded; or
- (iii) before the end of the meeting at which the poll was demanded, if the poll is taken after the end of the meeting or adjourned meeting but 48 hours or less after it was demanded

and when calculating these periods the Board can decide not to take account of any part of a day that is not a working day.

- (C) Any power of attorney or other authority relied on to appoint a proxy, or a copy which has been certified by a solicitor or notary, must be received with the proxy form unless the Board decides to disapply this requirement generally or in any specific case.
- (D) If the above requirements are not complied with, the proxy will not be able to act for the person who appointed him.
- (E) The Board may, in any notice of meeting or proxy form or otherwise, set out the principles it will apply in relation to the appointment of multiple proxies. If it doesn't do this then if more than one valid proxy form is received in respect of the same share for use at the same meeting or poll, only the last appointment received will be treated as valid (regardless of when it was signed or by what means it was submitted). If Young's does not know which is the last appointment received, Young's can decide which appointment to treat as valid or whether any of them is valid.
- (F) A shareholder can attend and vote at a general meeting or on a poll even if he has appointed a proxy to attend and vote at that meeting or on that poll.
- (G) The proceedings at a general meeting will not be invalidated where an appointment of a proxy in respect of that meeting is sent in electronic form as provided in these articles, but because of a technical problem it cannot be read by the recipient.

## 37. Cancellation of a proxy's authority

- (A) Any vote cast in the way a proxy form authorises and any demand for a poll made by a proxy will be valid even though:
  - (i) the person who appointed the proxy has died or is unable to manage his affairs;
  - (ii) the proxy form has been cancelled: or
  - (iii) the authority of the person who signed the proxy form has been cancelled.

However, this does not apply if written notice of any of these events has been received in any way specified for the appointment of proxies not later than the last time at which a proxy form should have been received to be valid for use at the meeting or on the holding of the poll at which the vote was given or the poll taken.

(B) A proxy form will cease to be valid 12 months from the date of its receipt. However, unless the proxy form itself states otherwise, its use is still valid at an adjourned meeting or on a poll demanded at a meeting or adjourned meeting even after 12 months if it was valid for the original meeting.

## 38. Cancellation of a company representative's authority

Any vote cast, or demand made for a poll, by a company representative will be valid even though his authority has been cancelled. However, this does not apply if written notice of this has been received in any way specified for the appointment of proxies not later than the last time at which a proxy form should have been received to be valid for use at the meeting or on the holding of the poll at which the vote was given or the poll taken.

## 39. General powers of Young's vested in the directors

- (A) The Board will manage the business of Young's. It can use all the powers of Young's except where the legislation or these articles say that powers can only be used by the shareholders voting to do so at a general meeting. The general management powers under this article are not limited in any way by specific powers given to the Board by other articles.
- (B) The Board's management powers are subject to the legislation, these articles and any other regulations laid down by the shareholders by passing an ordinary resolution at a general meeting which are not inconsistent with the legislation or these articles.
- (C) If a change is made to these articles or if the shareholders lay down any regulation relating to something which the Board has already done which was within its powers, that change or regulation cannot invalidate the Board's previous action.
- (D) The Board can exercise the powers under the legislation to make provision for the benefit of employees or former employees of Young's or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or transfer of all or some of the business of Young's or that subsidiary.

### 40. Delegating powers to committees

- (A) The Board can delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions to committees of one or more persons and can change the basis on which they are delegated or withdraw them from the committee. It can allow any committee to sub-delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions to sub-committees. The ability of the Board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers, authorities and discretions and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers, authorities and discretions being exercised by committees authorised by the Board while other articles do not.
- (B) Any committee must comply with any regulations laid down by the Board. These regulations can require or allow people who are not directors to be members of the committee and can give voting rights to such people. However, apart from any committee authorised to use any seal of Young's, there must be more directors on a committee than persons who are not directors and a resolution of the committee is only effective if a majority of the members of the committee present at the time of the resolution were directors.
- (C) If a committee has more than one member, the provisions of these articles which regulate board meetings and the procedure at them will also apply to committee meetings (if possible) unless they are inconsistent with any regulations for the committee which the Board has laid down.
- (D) If the Board has delegated any power, authority or discretion to a committee, any references in these articles to using or exercising that power, authority or discretion include its use or exercise by the committee.

## 41. Agents

(A) The Board can appoint anyone (including the members of a group which changes over time) as the agent of Young's. The agent can either be appointed directly by the Board or the Board can give someone else the power to select an agent. The Board or the persons who are authorised by it to select agents can decide on the purposes, powers, authorities and

discretions of agents but an agent cannot be given any power, authority or discretion which the Board does not have under these articles.

(B) The Board can decide for how long an agent's appointment will last and can apply any conditions to it. The appointment can include any provisions which the Board decides on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the agent. The appointment can also allow the agent to grant all or any of his powers, authorities or discretions to any other person.

### (C) The Board can:

- (i) delegate any of its powers, authorities or discretions to any manager or agent of Young's;
- (ii) allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
- (iii) remove any people it has appointed in any of these ways; and
- (iv) cancel or change anything that it has delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who has not had any notice of any cancellation or change.

Any appointment or delegation by the Board which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the Board.

(D) The ability of the Board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers, authorities and discretions and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the Board or by a committee authorised by the Board while other articles do not.

## 42. Delegation of powers

- (A) The Board can give a director or the secretary any of the powers, authorities and discretions which it has jointly as the Board. These powers, authorities and discretions can be given on any terms and conditions the Board decides either in parallel with, or in place of, the powers, authorities and discretions of the Board acting together, and can be given with the power to sub-delegate.
- (B) The Board can change the basis on which these powers, authorities and discretions are given or withdraw them. No person dealing in good faith who does not know about the change or withdrawal will be affected by it.
- (C) If the Board has delegated a power, authority or discretion to a director or the secretary, any references in these articles to using or exercising that power, authority or discretion include its use or exercise by the director or secretary.
- (D) The ability of the Board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers, authorities and discretions and is not limited because certain articles refer to powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the Board or by a committee authorised by the Board while other articles do not.

#### 43. Number of directors

Young's must have at least two directors. Subject to the legislation, the shareholders can change this minimum and/or set or change a maximum number by passing an ordinary resolution.

#### 44. Directors need not be shareholders

No director need be a shareholder.

## 45. Power to appoint directors

- (A) Subject to these articles, the Board can appoint any willing person as an additional director or as a replacement for another director. Any director appointed in this way automatically retires at the first annual general meeting after his appointment. At this annual general meeting he can be appointed by the shareholders as a director.
- (B) Subject to these articles, the shareholders can, by passing an ordinary resolution, appoint any willing person as an additional director or as a replacement for another director.

### 46. People who can be directors

Only the following can be appointed as a director at a general meeting:

- (i) a director who is retiring at the meeting;
- (ii) anyone recommended by the Board; or
- (iii) anyone proposed in the following way:
  - (aa) a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (other than the proposed director) must sign and deliver a written notice to Young's;
  - (bb) the notice must state that he intends to propose the person for appointment and whether the person is proposed as an additional director or to replace a director who is retiring or being removed;
  - (cc) the notice must be delivered not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the date of the meeting; and
  - (dd) the person to be proposed must sign a written confirmation that he is willing to be appointed and this must be delivered with the notice.

### 47. Automatic retirement

- (A) At every annual general meeting the following directors shall retire from office:
  - (i) any director who has been appointed by the Board since the last annual general meeting; and
  - (ii) any director who held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meetings and who did not retire at either of them.
- (B) Any director who retires at an annual general meeting may offer himself for re-appointment by the shareholders.
- (C) Subject to these articles, at the general meeting at which a director retires, shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to re-appoint him or to appoint some other eligible person in his place.

## 48. Timing of retirement at a general meeting

A director retiring at a general meeting retires at the end of that meeting or (if earlier) when a resolution is passed to appoint another person in his place or when a resolution to re-appoint him is put to the meeting and lost. Where a retiring director is re-appointed, he continues as a director without a break.

#### 49. Vacation of office

- (A) A director automatically stops being a director if:
  - (i) he stops being a director under the legislation or is removed from office under these articles;
  - (ii) he is prohibited from being a director under the legislation;
  - (iii) he becomes bankrupt or makes an arrangement or composition with his creditors generally;
  - (iv) he becomes unable to manage his affairs and a court which claims jurisdiction to protect people who are unable to manage their affairs has made an order detaining him or appointing a person to manage his property or affairs;
  - (v) except where his contract prevents him resigning, he delivers to Young's a written notice of resignation or he offers to resign and the Board passes a resolution accepting his offer;
  - (vi) he and any alternate director of his have missed board meetings for a continuous period of six months without permission from the Board and the Board passes a resolution removing him from office; or
  - (vii) his contract expires or is terminated for any reason and is not renewed or replaced within 14 days.
- (B) If a director stops being a director, he automatically stops being a member of any committee or sub-committee of the Board.

#### 50. Alternate directors

- (A) Any director (but not an alternate director) may by sending a written notice to the secretary at the office, or in any other way the Board approves, appoint as his alternate director another director or any other willing person approved by the Board. No appointment of anyone who is not already a director is effective until his consent to act as a director in the form prescribed by the legislation has been received at the office.
- (B) The appointment of an alternate director ends on the happening of any event which, if he were a director, would cause him automatically to stop being a director under these articles. It also ends if the alternate director resigns his office by written notice to the secretary at the office or if his appointor stops being a director, unless that director retires at a general meeting at which he is re-appointed. A director can also remove his alternate director by a written notice sent to the office or to an address specified by Young's or tabled at a meeting of the Board.
- (C) An alternate director is, if he gives written notice to the secretary at the office of an address in the UK at which notices may be given to him, entitled to be given notice of all board meetings and all board committee meetings of which his appointor is a member. If his appointer is absent from those meetings, he is entitled to attend and vote at them and generally at those meetings perform all the functions of his appointor as a director. The provisions of these articles regulating the meeting apply as if he (instead of his appointor) were a director. A director acting as alternate director has a separate vote at board meetings and board committee meetings for each director for whom he acts as alternate director but he counts as only one for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present. Except as set out in this article, an alternate director does not have power to act as a director, is not deemed to be a director for the purposes of these articles and is not deemed to be the agent of his appointor.

### 51. Executive directors

- (A) The Board or any committee authorised by the Board can appoint one or more directors to any executive position it decides. As far as the legislation allows, it can decide for how long these appointments will be and what their terms will be. It can also vary the terms of or end these appointments.
- (B) The Board or any committee authorised by the Board will decide how much remuneration a director appointed to an executive office will receive (whether as salary, commission, profit share or any other form of remuneration) and whether this is in addition to or in place of his fees as a director.
- (C) If the Board terminates the appointment, the termination will not affect any right of Young's or the director in relation to any breach of any employment contract which may be involved in the termination.

#### 52. Directors' fees

- (A) The Board or any committee authorised by the Board can decide on the amount, timing and method of payment of directors' fees, but the total fees paid to all the directors, excluding amounts payable under any other provision of these articles, must not exceed £250,000<sup>1,2,3</sup> a year or any higher sum decided on by an ordinary resolution at a general meeting, which resolution can increase the fee paid to all or any directors either permanently or for a particular period.
- (B) A fee payable to a director pursuant to this article is distinct from any salary, remuneration or other amount payable to him pursuant to any other provision of these articles.
- (C) An alternate director is not entitled to a fee under these articles for his services as an alternate director. The fee payable to an alternate director is payable out of the fee payable to his appointor and consists of such portion (if any) of the fee as he agrees with his appointor.

### 53. Additional remuneration

The Board or any committee authorised by the Board can award extra fees to any director who, in their view, performs any special or extra services for Young's. Extra fees can take the form of salary, commission, profit sharing or other benefits (and can be paid partly in one way and partly in another). They can also include any kind of benefit for the director's dependants. This is all decided by the Board or any committee authorised by the Board.

### 54. Directors' expenses

- (A) Young's can repay to a director all expenses properly incurred by him in attending and returning from general meetings, board meetings, board committee meetings and any other meetings which, as a director, he is entitled to attend. Young's will pay all other expenses properly and reasonably incurred by each director in connection with the business of Young's or in the performance of his duties as a director. Young's can also fund a director's expenditure and that of a director of any holding company of Young's for the purposes permitted by the legislation and can do anything to enable a director or a director of any holding company of Young's to avoid incurring such expenditure all as provided in the legislation.
- (B) Young's can repay to an alternate director all expenses properly incurred by him which he could have repaid to him under this article had he been a director.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By an ordinary resolution of the Company passed on 11 July 2017, a higher sum of £300,000 was decided.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By an ordinary resolution of the Company passed on 20 July 2021, a higher sum of £375,000 was decided.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By an ordinary resolution of the Company passed on 6 July 2023, a higher sum of £500,000 was decided.

#### 55. Pensions and other benefits

- (A) The Board or any committee authorised by the Board can decide whether to provide pensions, annual payments or other allowances or benefits to any people including people who are or who were directors. The Board can decide to extend these arrangements to relations or dependants of, or people connected to, these people. The Board can also decide to contribute to a scheme or fund or to pay premiums to a third party for these purposes.
- (B) Young's can only provide pensions and other benefits to the following if the shareholders approve this by passing an ordinary resolution:
  - (i) people who are or were directors but who have not been employed by, or held an
    office or executive position in, Young's or any of its subsidiary undertakings or former
    subsidiary undertakings or any predecessor in business of Young's or any such other
    company; and
  - relations or dependants of, or people connected to, those directors or former directors.
- (C) No director or former director is accountable to Young's or the shareholders for a benefit of any kind given in accordance with this article. The receipt of a benefit of any kind given in accordance with this article does not prevent a person from being or becoming a director.

## 56. Board meetings

The Board can decide when and where to have meetings and how they will be conducted. They can also adjourn their meetings.

## 57. Notice of board meetings

- (A) A meeting can be called by any director or the secretary. The secretary must call a meeting if asked to by any director.
- (B) Board meetings are called by giving notice to all the directors. Notice is treated as properly given if it is given personally, by word of mouth or in writing to the director's last known address or any other address given by him to Young's for this purpose. However, a director who is out of the UK is not entitled to be given notice of a board meeting unless notice of it is given in writing and he has asked the Board in writing to send notices of board meetings during his absence to his last known address or another address given to Young's for this purpose.
- (C) Any director can waive his entitlement to notice of a meeting, including one that has already taken place. Any waiver after the meeting has taken place will not affect the validity of the meeting or any business conducted at it.

### 58. Appointment of a chairman and deputy chairman

The Board can appoint any director as chairman or as deputy chairman for whatever periods the Board decides. Generally, such chairman or, in his absence, such deputy chairman, will chair every board meeting. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman willing and able to chair the meeting within ten minutes from the time that the meeting is due to start, the chair will be taken by a director nominated by the chairman in writing. If the chairman has not done this, the directors and alternate directors (in the absence of their appointors) present can decide which one of them is to be chairman of the meeting.

### 59. Quorum

(A) If no other quorum is fixed by the Board, two directors present in person or by alternate director form a quorum.

- (B) A meeting at which a quorum is present can exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions of the Board.
- (C) A director who ceases to be a director at a board meeting can continue to be present and act as a director and be counted in the quorum until the end of that board meeting if no other director objects and a quorum of the Board would not otherwise be present.

### 60. Directors can act if there are vacancies

If one or more of the directors stops being a director, the remaining director or directors can continue to act. However, if the number of directors falls below the minimum which applies under these articles (including any change to that minimum approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders), or the number fixed as the quorum for board meetings, the remaining director or directors can only act to appoint a further director or directors to make up the shortfall or convene a general meeting. If no director is, or directors are, willing or able to act under this article, any two shareholders (excluding any shareholder holding shares as treasury shares) can call a general meeting to appoint a director or directors to make up the shortfall.

### 61. Participation in meetings

- (A) All or any of the directors can take part in a board meeting by way of:
  - (i) any communication equipment which allows everybody to take part in the meeting by being able to hear each of the other people at the meeting and by being able to speak to all of them at the same time; or
  - (ii) a series of video conferences or telephone calls from the chairman of the meeting.
- (B) A person taking part in this way will be treated as being present in person at the meeting. A meeting which takes place by a series of video conferences or telephone calls from the chairman will be treated as taking place where the chairman is. Otherwise meetings will be treated as taking place where the largest group of the participants is or, if there is no such group, where the chairman is, unless the Board decides otherwise.

## 62. Voting at board meetings

Matters to be decided at a board meeting will be decided by a majority vote. If the votes are equal, the chairman of the meeting has a second, or casting, vote.

### 63. Director's interests

Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

- (A) The Board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authorise any matter which would otherwise involve a director breaching his duty under the legislation to avoid a situation in which he has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of Young's (a "Conflict").
- (B) A director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict must tell the Board of the nature and extent of his interest in a Conflict as soon as possible. The director must give the Board sufficient details of the relevant matter to enable it to decide how to address the Conflict together with any additional information which it may request.
- (C) Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authorised in relation to any matter the subject of a Conflict. Such proposal and any authority given by the Board shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to and resolved upon by the Board under the provisions of these articles except that:

- (i) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest cannot count in the quorum or vote on a resolution giving such authority; and
- (ii) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other directors so decide, be excluded from any meeting of the Board while the Conflict is under consideration.
- (D) Where the Board gives authority in relation to a Conflict:
  - (i) it may (whether at the time of giving the authority or subsequently) impose any terms upon the relevant director which it thinks fit, including, but not limited to, the exclusion of that director from the receipt of information, or participation in discussion (whether at meetings of the Board or otherwise) related to the Conflict;
  - (ii) the relevant director must conduct himself in accordance with any terms imposed by the Board in relation to the Conflict;
  - (iii) it may provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director of Young's) information that is confidential to a third party, he will not be obliged to disclose that information to Young's, or to use the information in relation to the affairs of Young's, where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence:
  - (iv) the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective whether or not the terms are so recorded); and
  - (v) the Board may revoke such authority at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant director prior to such revocation in accordance with the terms of such authority.

### Other conflicts of interest

- (E) When a director knows that he is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed contract with Young's or a contract that has been entered into by Young's, he must tell the other directors of the nature and extent of that interest in accordance with the legislation.
- (F) If the director has disclosed the nature and extent of his interest to the other directors in accordance with the legislation, he can:
  - (i) have any kind of interest in a contract with or involving Young's or another company in which Young's has an interest;
  - (ii) be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary company of Young's or any other company in which Young's has an interest;
  - (iii) hold any other office or place of profit with Young's (other than as auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such period and on such terms, including as to remuneration, as the Board may decide;
  - (iv) alone (or through some company or firm with which he is associated) do paid professional work (other than as auditor) for Young's or another company in which Young's has an interest on such terms as the Board may decide; and
  - (v) be or become a director of any other company in which Young's does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably be regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other company.

## Benefits

(G) A director does not have to hand over to Young's any benefit received or profit made as a result of anything authorised or allowed under this article nor is any type of contract authorised or allowed under this article liable to be avoided.

## Quorum and voting requirements

- (H) A director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on a resolution of the Board concerning his own appointment to a position with Young's or any company in which Young's has an interest or the terms or the termination of the appointment. Where the Board is considering proposals about appointing two or more directors to positions with Young's or any company in which Young's has an interest (or the terms or the termination of their appointments), these proposals can be split up to deal with each director separately. If this is done, each director can vote and be counted in the quorum for each resolution, except the one concerning him.
- (I) A director cannot vote or be counted in the quorum on a resolution of the Board about a contract in which he has an interest and, if he does vote, his vote will not be counted, but this restriction will not apply to any resolution where that interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or where that interest arises only because of one or more the following things, namely it is a resolution about or relating to:
  - (i) giving him or any other person a guarantee, security or indemnity for any money lent, or obligation incurred, by him or that other person at the request of, or for the benefit of, Young's or any of its subsidiary undertakings;
  - (ii) giving of a guarantee, security or indemnity to any other person for a debt or obligation which is owed by Young's or any of its subsidiary undertakings to that other person if he has taken responsibility for all or some of that debt or obligation by giving a guarantee, security or indemnity;
  - (iii) a contract relating to any offering of shares, debentures or other securities of Young's or any of its subsidiary undertakings for subscription or purchase if he takes part because he is a holder of shares, debentures or other securities, or if he takes part in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of the offer:
  - (iv) a contract involving any other company if he (together with any people connected with him) has any kind of interest in that company (including holding a position in that company or being a shareholder of that company);
  - (v) a contract relating to an arrangement for the benefit of employees of Young's or any of its subsidiary undertakings which only gives him benefits which are also generally given to the employees to whom the arrangement relates;
  - (vi) a contract relating to a pension, superannuation or similar scheme, or a retirement, death or disability benefits scheme or employees' share scheme, which gives him benefits which are also generally given to the employees to whom the scheme relates;
  - (vii) a contract relating to any insurance which Young's can buy or renew for the benefit of directors or of a group of people which includes them;
  - (viii) giving him any other indemnity where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on substantially the same terms;
  - (ix) Young's funding his expenditure on defending proceedings or Young's doing something to enable him to avoid incurring such expenditure where all other directors are being offered substantially the same arrangements; or
  - (x) a contract in which he has an interest because of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of Young's or because of any other interest in or through Young's.

- (J) Where a company in which a director has an interest is interested in a contract, the director will also be treated as being interested in that contract. Interests which are unknown to the director and which it is unreasonable to expect him to know about are ignored. Interests of a person who is connected with a director are added to his interests. In relation to an alternate director, the interest of his appointor is treated as the interest of the alternate director in addition to an interest which the alternate director otherwise has. A director can vote if his interest is only an interest in the shares, debentures or other securities of Young's.
- (K) Subject to these articles, the Board can exercise, or arrange for the exercise of, the voting rights attached to any shares in another company held by Young's and the voting rights which they have as directors of that company in any way that it decides. This includes voting in favour of a resolution appointing any of them as directors or officers of that company and deciding their remuneration. Subject to these articles, a director can also vote and be counted in the quorum as a director in connection with any of these things.
- (L) If a question comes up at a board meeting about whether a director (other than the chairman of the meeting) has an interest in a contract and whether it is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or whether he can vote or be counted in the quorum and he does not agree to abstain from voting on the question or not be counted in the quorum, the question must be referred to the chairman of the meeting. The chairman of the meeting's ruling about the other director is final unless the nature and extent of the director's interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the other directors. If the question comes up about the chairman of the meeting, the question must be referred to the Board. The chairman cannot vote on the question but can be counted in the quorum. The Board's resolution about the chairman is final unless the nature and extent of the chairman's interest (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the other directors.

### General

- (M) The shareholders can by passing an ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of this article to any extent or ratify any contract which has not been properly authorised in accordance with this article.
- (N) References in this article to:
  - a contract include references to an existing or proposed contract and to an existing or proposed transaction or arrangement whether or not it is a contract; and
  - (ii) a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.

## 64. Validity of acts of the Board or committees

Everything which is done by a board meeting, by a board committee meeting or by any person acting as a director, or member of a board committee, will be valid even if it is discovered later that any person was not properly appointed. This also applies if it is discovered later that anyone was disqualified from being a director or had ceased to be a director or was not entitled to vote. In any of these cases, anything done will be as valid as if there was no defect or irregularity of the kind referred to in this article.

#### 65. Written resolutions

A written resolution must be signed by all of the directors who at the time are entitled to receive notice of a board meeting and who would be entitled to vote on the resolution at a board meeting and who together meet the quorum requirement for board meetings. This kind of resolution is just as valid and effective as a resolution passed by those directors at a meeting which is properly called and held. The resolution can be passed using several copies of a document if each copy is signed by one or more directors. The resolution need not be signed by an alternate director if it is signed by his appointor and a resolution signed by an alternate director need not be signed by his appointor. These copies can be made by

electronic means. No signature is necessary if electronic means are used, subject to any terms and conditions the Board decides.

# 66. Positions with titles including the word "director"

The Board can appoint anyone to a position having a title including the word "director" or give a title including the word "director' to an existing position and can end that appointment or the use of that title. The use of the word "director" in the title of a position does not imply that the holder is, or is deemed to be, or is empowered to act as, a director and the holder does not have the power to act as a director and is not treated as a director for the purposes of the legislation or these articles.

## 67. Borrowing powers

- (A) The Board can exercise all the powers of Young's to:
  - (i) borrow money;
  - (ii) mortgage or charge all or any part of the business, undertaking, property and assets (present and/or future) of Young's;
  - (iii) issue debentures and other securities; and/or
  - (iv) give security, either outright or as collateral security, for any debt, liability or obligation of Young's or another person.
- (B) The Board must limit the borrowings of Young's and exercise all voting and other rights or powers of control exercisable by Young's in relation to its subsidiary undertakings so as to ensure that the total amount of all borrowings by Young's and its subsidiary undertakings is not more than the amount of its Adjusted Capital and Reserves. This affects subsidiary undertakings only to the extent the Board can do this by exercising its rights or powers of control. This limit can be exceeded if the consent of shareholders has been given in advance by passing an ordinary resolution. The limit does not include borrowings owing by one member of the group to another member of the group.
- (C) For the purpose of this article:
  - (i) "Adjusted Capital and Reserves" means the total from time to time of:
    - (aa) the amount paid up or credited as paid up on the issued share capital of Young's (including any shares held as treasury shares); and
    - (bb) the amount standing to the credit of reserves (including any share premium account, capital redemption reserve, revaluation reserve and any credit balance on retained earnings account) all as shown by the then latest audited balance sheet but after deducting any debit balance on retained earnings account (except to the extent that such deduction has already been made) and making adjustments to reflect any change in the amount of such paid up share capital or reserves since the date of such audited balance sheet;
  - (ii) "audited balance sheet" means the audited balance sheet of Young's prepared for the purposes of the legislation unless at the date of the then latest such balance sheet there shall have been prepared for such purposes and audited a consolidated balance sheet of the group (with such exceptions as may be permitted in the case of a consolidated balance sheet prepared for the purposes of the legislation); and in the latter event "audited balance sheet" shall mean such audited consolidated balance sheet of the group, the references to reserves and retained earnings shall be deemed to be references to consolidated reserves and consolidated retained earnings respectively and there shall be excluded any amounts attributable to outside interests in subsidiaries; and

- (iii) "group" means Young's and its subsidiary undertakings, if any.
- (D) A certificate or report by a person chosen by the Board as to the amount of the borrowings at a particular time will be conclusive evidence of that amount. However, the Board can rely on a genuine estimate of the amount of the borrowings at any time and if as a result the limit stated in these articles is exceeded, an amount of borrowed money equal to the excess can be disregarded until six months after the date the Board became aware that this situation had or may have arisen.
- (E) No lender or other person dealing with Young's or any of its subsidiaries needs to look at or enquire whether the limit imposed by these articles is being observed. No borrowing incurred or security given in excess of this limit will be invalid or ineffective unless the lender or the recipient of the security had express notice at the time when the borrowing was incurred or security given that the limit had been or would as a result be exceeded.

### 68. Final dividends

Shareholders can declare dividends by passing an ordinary resolution, but no dividend can exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

### 69. Fixed and interim dividends

If the Board considers that the financial position of Young's justifies such payments, it can pay:

- (i) interim dividends on any class of shares of any amounts, on any dates and for any periods which it decides; and
- (ii) fixed or other dividends on any class of shares on the dates stated for the payment of those dividends.

If the Board acts in good faith, it will not be liable to any shareholders for any loss they suffer because a lawful dividend has been paid on other shares which rank equally with or behind their shares.

## 70. Distributions in kind

If the Board recommends this, shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to direct all or some of a dividend to be paid by distributing specific assets (and, in particular, paid-up shares or debentures of any other company). The Board must give effect to that resolution. Where a difficulty arises on the distribution, the Board can settle it as it decides; in particular, it can authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions, ignore any fractions, issue fractional certificates, value the assets for distribution purposes, pay cash of a similar value to adjust the rights of shareholders and/or transfer any assets to trustees for the benefit of more than one shareholder.

# 71. Payments to shareholders

- (A) A dividend or other money payable in cash relating to a share can be paid:
  - (i) by cheque or warrant payable to the shareholder or person automatically entitled to the shares by law who is entitled to it or to another person named in a written instruction from the shareholder (or all joint shareholders or people jointly and automatically entitled to the shares by law);
  - (ii) in the case of uncertificated shares, through CREST;

- (iii) by bank transfer or other electronic means directly to an account named in a written instruction from the shareholder (or all joint shareholders or people jointly and automatically entitled to the shares by law); and/or
- (iv) in any other way agreed between the shareholder (or all joint shareholders or people jointly and automatically entitled to the shares by law) and Young's.
- (B) For joint shareholders, or people jointly and automatically entitled to shares by law, Young's can rely on a receipt for a dividend or other money paid on shares from any one of them.
- (C) Cheques and warrants are sent, and payment in any other way is made, at the risk of the people who are entitled to the money. Young's is treated as having paid a dividend if the cheque or warrant is cleared or if a payment is made through CREST, bank transfer or other electronic means. Young's will not be responsible for a payment which is lost or delayed.
- (D) No dividend or other money payable by Young's in respect of its shares carries a right to interest from Young's unless the rights of the shares say something different.

## 72. Unclaimed dividends and other money

- (A) Unclaimed dividends and other money payable in respect of a share can be invested or otherwise used by the Board for the benefit of Young's until they are claimed. The Board can decide to pay the unclaimed dividends and other money into a separate account, but Young's will not be a trustee of the money and will not be liable to pay interest on it. If a dividend or other money has not been claimed for 12 years after it was declared or became due for payment, it will be forfeited and belong to Young's again unless the Board decides otherwise.
- (B) Young's can stop paying dividends if cheques or warrants for two dividends in a row are sent back or not cashed or if payment by any other means has not been able to be made twice in a row through no fault of Young's. Young's must start paying dividends in the same way again if the shareholder or a person automatically entitled to the shares by law claims those dividends in writing (before they go back to Young's under these articles) and does not ask Young's to start paying dividends in some other way.

## 73. Waiver of dividends

All or any dividends can be waived by a document which is accepted by Young's or on which Young's acts. The document must be signed by the shareholder (or the person automatically entitled to the shares by law) and delivered to Young's.

### 74. Changing reserves into capital

- (A) If the Board recommends this, shareholders can pass an ordinary resolution to allow the Board to change into capital an amount which is part of the reserves of Young's (including any share premium account, capital redemption reserves or other undistributable reserves) or which Young's is holding as net profits.
- (B) Unless the ordinary resolution states otherwise, the Board will use the sum which is changed into capital by setting it aside for the persons who are holders of ordinary shares according to the register at the stated time on the day the resolution is passed (or whatever day is stated in the resolution or fixed as stated in the resolution). If no time is stated in the resolution, the close of business applies.
- (C) The sum set aside must be used to pay up in full shares of Young's and to allot such shares and distribute them to shareholders as bonus shares in proportion to the amounts paid up on their holdings of ordinary shares at the time. Young's is entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of shareholders to the distribution will be calculated on this basis.

- (D) Subject to the directions of any general meeting that approves the issue and to the rights attached to existing shares, the Board can decide:
  - (i) whether the bonus shares are to be A Shares, Non-Voting Shares, some other class of share (which may be a new share class) or a mixture of share classes; and
  - (ii) the class or classes of bonus share to be issued to holders of each class of ordinary share and, subject always to obeying the requirement in paragraph (C) of this article, different classes, or mixtures of classes, of bonus shares may be paid up and allotted to holders of each class of ordinary share.
- (E) If a difficulty arises in connection with any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund, the Board can resolve it in any way which it decides. For example, it can decide that the benefit of fractions of shares belongs to Young's or that fractions are ignored or deal with fractions in some other way.
- (F) The Board can appoint any person to sign a contract with Young's on behalf of those who are entitled to shares under the resolution. Such a contract is binding on all concerned.

#### 75. Record dates

Any dividend or distribution on, and any allotment or issue of, any shares can be paid or made to the shareholders shown on the register at whatever time on whatever day is stated in the resolution declaring the dividend or providing for the distribution, allotment or issue. If no time is stated, the close of business applies. This article applies whether what is being done is the result of a resolution of the Board or a resolution passed at a general meeting. The time and date can be before the relevant resolution was passed. This article does not affect the rights between past and present shareholders to payments or other benefits.

### 76. Assets treated as revenue

Where an asset, business or property is bought by Young's as at a past date, if the legislation allows this the Board can decide that any of the related profits and losses as from that date can be added to the income statement of Young's and treated for all purposes as profits or losses of Young's. Where any securities are bought by Young's with any dividend or interest, if the legislation allows this the Board can decide that the dividend or interest can be treated as revenue rather than capital.

## 77. Inspection of records

A shareholder is not entitled to inspect any accounting records or other books or papers of Young's unless the legislation or a court order gives him that right, the Board authorises him to do so or the shareholders pass an ordinary resolution authorising him to do so.

### 78. Secretary, and deputy and temporary secretaries

- (A) The secretary is appointed by the Board. The Board decides the terms and period of the appointment. The Board can also remove the secretary. This does not affect any claim for damages against Young's for breach of any contract of employment the secretary may have.
- (B) The Board can appoint two or more people to be joint secretaries.
- (C) The Board can also appoint one or more people to be deputy secretaries or one person to be a temporary secretary. The Board decides the terms and period of the appointment. The Board can also remove a deputy or temporary secretary. This does not affect any claim for damages against Young's for breach of any contract of employment they may have.
- (D) Anything which these articles require or allow to be done by the secretary can also be done by a deputy or temporary secretary.

(E) Anything which the legislation or these articles require or allow to be done by or to a director and the secretary cannot be done by or to one person acting as both a director and as, or in place of, the secretary.

#### 79. Seals

- (A) The Board must arrange for every seal to be kept safely and any such seal can only be used with the authority of the Board or a committee authorised by the Board (but such committee may consist solely of people who are not directors).
- (B) Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, every document which is sealed using the common seal must be signed by one director and the secretary, or by two directors or by any other person or persons authorised to do so by the Board.
- (C) The official seal can be used only for sealing securities issued by Young's and documents creating or evidencing securities issued by Young's. Securities and documents which have been sealed with the official seal do not need to be signed unless the Board decides otherwise or the legislation requires it.
- (D) The Board can resolve that the requirement for any counter-signature in this article can be dispensed with on any occasion.
- (E) The Board can use all the powers given by the legislation relating to official seals.

## 80. Registers

Young's can keep an overseas, local or other register. The Board can make and change any regulations previously made by them relating to any of such registers.

### 81. Signature of documents in electronic form

Where under these articles a document, including a proxy form, needs to be signed by a shareholder or other person and it is in electronic form, the Board may, if it chooses, disapply the requirement for a signature or require the communication in electronic form to incorporate the electronic signature or personal identification details (which may be details previously allocated by Young's or its agent) of that shareholder or other person, in the form the Board approves, or be accompanied by any other evidence the Board may specify. Young's can designate mechanisms for validating any document of this kind, and any document not validated by the use of these mechanisms can be treated by the Board as never having been received by Young's or its agent.

## 82. Certifying copies of documents

- (A) Any director or the secretary can decide that any of the following is genuine and certify copies of or extracts from them as true copies or extracts:
  - (i) documents relating to the constitution of Young's;
  - (ii) resolutions passed by the shareholders or a class of shareholders, or by the Board or a board committee; and
  - (iii) books, documents, records or accounts which relate to the business of Young's.

The Board can also give this power to other people.

(B) A document which appears to be a copy of a resolution or an extract from the minutes of a meeting and which is certified as a true copy or extract as described in this article is conclusive evidence for a person who deals with Young's on the strength of the document

that the resolution has been properly passed or the extract is a true and accurate record of the proceedings of a valid meeting.

### 83. Destroying or deleting documents

- (A) Young's can destroy or delete:
  - (i) all transfer forms for shares, documents sent to support a transfer and any other documents which were the basis for making an entry on the register, six years after the date of registration;
  - (ii) all dividend or other payment instructions and notifications of a change of address or name, two years after the date these were recorded; and
  - (iii) all cancelled share certificates, one year after the date they were cancelled.
- (B) A document destroyed or deleted by Young's under this article is conclusively treated as having been a valid and effective document in accordance with Young's records relating to the document. Any action of Young's in dealing with the document in accordance with its terms before it was destroyed or deleted is conclusively treated as having been properly taken.
- (C) This article only applies to documents which are destroyed or deleted in good faith and if Young's does not know that keeping the documents is relevant to any claim.
- (D) If the documents relate to uncertificated shares, Young's must also comply with any requirements of the uncertificated securities rules which limit its ability to destroy or delete these documents.
- (E) This article does not make Young's liable if it:
  - (i) destroys or deletes a document earlier than the time limit stated in this article;
  - (ii) does not comply with the conditions in this article; or
  - (iii) would not be liable if this article did not exist.
- (F) This article applies whether a document is destroyed or deleted or disposed of in some other way.

## 84. Communications by Young's

- (A) Young's can send or supply any notice, document, including a share certificate, or other information to a shareholder:
  - (i) by delivering it to him personally;
  - (ii) by addressing it to him and posting it to, or by leaving it at, the address recorded for the shareholder on the register;
  - (iii) where appropriate, by sending it by fax to a fax number notified by the shareholder in writing for that purpose;
  - (iv) where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the shareholder in writing for that purpose;
  - (v) where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the shareholder of its availability in accordance with this article:

- (vi) through CREST where it relates to uncertificated shares;
- (vii) as authorised in writing by the shareholder; or
- (viii) by advertisement in at least two UK national newspapers.

Where there are joint shareholders, the notice, document or other information can be sent or supplied to any one of the joint holders and if this is done it will be treated as having been sent or supplied to all the joint holders.

- (B) Where there are joint shareholders, anything which needs to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other information to be sent or supplied to them can be agreed or specified by any one of the joint shareholders. The agreement or specification of the senior will be accepted to the exclusion of the agreement or specification of the other joint shareholder(s). For this purpose, seniority will be determined by the order in which the joint shareholders' names stand in the register in respect of the joint shareholding.
- (C) If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information sent or supplied to a shareholder has been returned undelivered, Young's need not send or supply further notices, documents or other information to that shareholder until he has communicated with Young's and supplied Young's (or its agents) with a new registered address, or a postal address within the UK for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information, or has informed Young's of an address for the service of notices and the sending or supply of documents and other information in electronic form. Any notice, document or other information sent by post will be treated as returned undelivered if the notice, document or other information is sent back to Young's (or its agents), and any notice, document or other information sent or supplied in electronic form will be treated as returned undelivered if Young's (or its agents) receives notification that the notice, document or other information was not delivered to the address to which it was sent.
- (D) Young's may at any time and in its sole discretion choose to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other information in hard copy form alone to some or all shareholders.
- (E) Where Young's sends or supplies notices, documents or other information to shareholders, it can do so by reference to the register as it stands at any time not more than 15 days before the date the notice, document or other information is sent or supplied. Any change of details on the register after that time will not invalidate the sending or supply and Young's is not obliged to send or supply the same notice, document or other information to any person entered on the register after the date selected by Young's.
- (F) If a shareholder's address on the register is outside the UK, he can give Young's a UK postal address to which notices, documents or other information can be sent or supplied to him. If he does, he is entitled to have notices, documents or other information sent to him at that address or, where applicable, to be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, documents or other information on a website. Alternatively, a shareholder whose address on the register is outside the UK can give Young's an address for the purposes of communications in electronic form. If he does, notices, documents or other information may, subject to these articles, be sent or supplied to him at that address. Otherwise, he is not entitled to receive any notices, documents or other information from Young's.
- (G) For a shareholder registered on a branch register, notices, documents or other information can be posted or despatched in the UK or in the country where the branch register is kept.
- (H) Where a person is registered as a sole or first-named joint shareholder but someone else is automatically entitled to his shares by law, the person who proves that he is automatically entitled to the shares by law to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board can give Young's a UK postal address for the sending or supply of notices, documents and other information. If this is done, subject to these articles, notices, documents and other information must be sent to that address or, where applicable, he must be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, document or other information on a website. Alternatively, a person who is entitled

to that shareholder's shares by law, and who proves this to the reasonable satisfaction of the Board, can give Young's an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means. If this is done, subject to these articles, notices, documents or other information may be sent or supplied to him at that address or, where applicable, he may be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, document or other information on a website. Otherwise, if any notice, document or other information is sent or supplied to the shareholder named on the register, this will be valid even though someone else is automatically entitled to his shares by law. This applies even if Young's knew of this. If any notice, document or other information is sent or supplied in accordance with this article, there is no need to send or supply it in any other way to any other people involved.

#### 85. When communications are delivered

- (A) If any notice, document or other information is left by Young's at the address recorded for the shareholder on the register or at a postal address notified to Young's in accordance with these articles by a shareholder or a person who is entitled to a share by law, it is treated as being received on the day it was left.
- (B) If any notice, document or other information is given, sent or supplied by Young's by post, it is treated as being received the day after it was posted if first class post was used or 48 hours after it was posted if first class post was not used. In proving that any notice, document or other information was received, it is sufficient to show that the envelope was properly addressed and put into the postal system with postage paid.
- (C) If any notice, document or other information is given, sent or supplied by Young's using electronic means, it is treated as being received on the day it was sent.
- (D) In the case of any notice, document or other information made available on a website, the notice, document or other information is treated as being received on the day on which the notice, document or other information was first made available on the website, or, if later, when a notice of availability is received or treated as being received by the shareholder in accordance with these articles.
- (E) If a notice is sent through CREST, it is treated as being received when Young's, or any CREST participant acting for Young's, sends the issuer-instruction relating to the notice, document or other information.
- (F) If any notice, document or other information is given, sent or supplied by Young's by any other means authorised in writing by a shareholder, it is treated as being received when Young's has done what it was authorised to do by that shareholder.
- (G) If any notice, document or other information is given, sent or supplied by Young's by advertisement in at least two UK national newspapers, it is treated as being received at midday on the day when the last of the two advertisements appears.
- (H) In proving that any notice, document or other information given, sent or supplied by electronic means was received, it is sufficient to show that it was properly addressed.

### 86. Communications when post etc. not available

If a general meeting cannot be called by sending or supplying notices through the post or by electronic means or by making the notice available on a website because the postal service in the UK or some part of the UK or the relevant communication system is suspended or restricted, the Board can give notice of the meeting to shareholders affected by the suspension or restriction by publishing a notice in at least one UK national newspaper. Notice published in this way will be treated as being properly served on affected shareholders who are entitled to receive it on the day the advertisement appears. If it becomes generally possible to send or supply notices by post or by electronic means or by making the notice available on a website at least six clear days before the meeting, the Board will send or supply a copy of the notice by post or by electronic means to those

entitled to receive it by way of confirmation or, where applicable, notify the affected shareholders of the availability on a website.

### 87. Failure to send, or non-receipt of, any notice etc.

- (A) If any notice, document or other information relating to any meeting or other proceeding is accidentally not sent or supplied, or is not received, the meeting or other proceeding will not be invalid as a result.
- (B) A shareholder present in person or by proxy at a shareholders' meeting is treated as having received proper notice of that meeting and, where necessary, of the purpose of that meeting.

### 88. Shareholders bound by prior notices etc.

Every person who, through automatic entitlement by law or by transfer or other means whatsoever, becomes entitled to any share, is bound by every notice, document or other information in respect of such share which, before his name and address is entered on the register, shall have been duly given to the person from whom he derives his title to such share.

## 89. Indemnity

As far as the legislation allows, every director, alternate director, secretary and manager of Young's will be indemnified by Young's out of its own funds against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in performing his duties, in exercising his powers, in claiming to do any of these things and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his duties, powers or offices. However, this article shall not grant indemnification to any person, nor entitle any such person to, indemnification to the extent that it would cause all or any part of this article to be void under the legislation.

## 90. Insurance

As far as the legislation allows and without limiting any other article in any way, the Board can arrange for Young's to purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for or for the benefit of any people who are or were at any time directors, alternate directors, the secretary, managers, officers or employees of:

- (i) Young's;
- (ii) a body (whether or not incorporated) in which Young's has or had an interest (whether direct or indirect); and/or
- (iii) a body (whether or not incorporated) which is in any way allied to or associated with Young's, or any subsidiary undertaking of Young's or such other body.